

**South Ayrshire Council**

**Report by Director – Place  
to South Ayrshire Council  
of 29 June 2022**

---

**Subject: Updated Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of  
Land and Buildings**

---

**1. Purpose**

- 1.1 The purpose of this report is to obtain approval from the Council for an updated *Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings*.

**2. Recommendation**

- 2.1 It is recommended that the Council approves the updated Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings (attached as Appendix 1).**

**3. Background**

- 3.1 On 26 November 2019, the Council's *Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings* was approved by Leadership Panel.

- 3.2 Following a recent internal audit, one of the actions arising was that the policy be reviewed and an updated policy presented to Members for approval:

‘A review of the Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings to be undertaken by Director of Place at an early date. The current policy advises that ‘*In recognition of the new guidance and other requirements for land transfers and acquisitions for Housing, a separate complementary policy on HRA land acquisition and disposal is being developed*’ It would be appropriate that both matters are dealt with in this review’.

- 3.3 In revising the policy, guidance from the Scottish Government and Acquisition and Disposal policies from other Local Authorities have been considered.

- 3.4 Following discussion with officers in March 2022, it was clarified by the previous Leader of the Council, the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance and the Chief Internal Auditor that one new revised policy should be provided, with the policy on HRA land acquisition included in the updated policy, rather than as a separate policy.

- 3.5 Advice from the Council's legal and finance services has been incorporated and relevant stakeholders across the Council consulted and involved in the development of the updated policy.

## 4. Proposals

- 4.1 The Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings has been updated, amongst other things, to reflect the following:
- 4.1.1 ability to procure houses and land at increased values (para 3.1.5);
  - 4.1.2 land or buildings potentially surplus to requirement to be first offered to the Council's Housing Services or be transferred at affordable housing market value as determined by an independent valuer (para 4.1.5);
  - 4.1.3 a new proposal that internal transfer of all land or property from General Services or Common Good for affordable housing to Housing Services and disposals to Housing Associations will take into account any abnormal costs and any other factors considered to be appropriate (para 4.1.6);
  - 4.1.4 the process regarding subsidies from the General Services Account to the HRA (para 4.1.7 to 4.1.9); and
  - 4.1.5 addition of a checklist to the updated Policy to be followed in this event.
- 4.2 All proposed amendments are tracked and highlighted in **bold text** in the revised policy (attached as Appendix 1 for Members' approval).

## 5. Legal and Procurement Implications

- 5.1 The recommendations in this report are consistent with legal requirements.
- 5.2 There are no procurement implications arising from this report.

## 6. Financial Implications

- 6.1 Not applicable.

## 7. Human Resources Implications

- 7.1 Not applicable.

## 8. Risk

### 8.1 *Risk Implications of Adopting the Recommendations*

- 8.1.1 There is no risk to the Council in adopting the recommendations.

### 8.2 *Risk Implications of Rejecting the Recommendations*

- 8.2.1 The risks associated with rejecting the updated Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings is that the policy does not address actions from the recent audit;
- 8.2.2 Furthermore, that there is not sufficient information available to the Council in considering and approving internal transfers of land from the General Services account to the Housing Revenue account and vice versa.

## 9. Equalities

- 9.1 The proposals in this report have been assessed through the Equality Impact Assessment Scoping process. There are no significant potential positive or negative equality impacts of agreeing the recommendations and therefore an Equalities Impact Assessment is not required. A copy of the Equalities Scoping Assessment is attached as Appendix 2.

## 10. Sustainable Development Implications

- 10.1 **Considering Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)** - This report does not propose or seek approval for a plan, policy, programme or strategy or document otherwise described which could be considered to constitute a plan, programme, policy or strategy.

## 11. Options Appraisal

- 11.1 An options appraisal has not been carried out in relation to the subject matter of this report.

## 12. Link to Council Plan

- 12.1 The matters referred to in this report contribute to Commitment 4 of the Council Plan: South Ayrshire Works/ Make the most of the local economy.

## 13. Results of Consultation

- 13.1 Consultation has taken place with Councillor Martin Kilbride, Portfolio Holder for Buildings, Housing and Environment, and the contents of this report reflect any feedback provided.
- 13.2 There has also been consultation with Legal Services, Finance, Special Property Projects and Housing Service Leads regarding the content of this report and the contents of this report reflect any feedback provided.

## 14. Next Steps for Decision Tracking Purposes

- 14.1 If the recommendations above are approved by Members, the Director – Place will ensure that all necessary steps are taken to ensure full implementation of the decision within the following timescales, with the completion status reported to the Leadership Panel in the 'Council and Leadership Panel Decision Log' at each of its meetings until such time as the decision is fully implemented:

<b><i>Implementation</i></b>	<b><i>Due date</i></b>	<b><i>Managed by</i></b>
<i>Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings updated and published on The Core</i>	6 July 2022	Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer

## [Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings](#)

**Person to Contact**      **Tom Burns Service Lead - Asset Management and Community  
Asset Transfer  
County Buildings, Wellington Square, Ayr KA7 1DR  
E-mail: [tom.burns@south-ayrshire.gov.uk](mailto:tom.burns@south-ayrshire.gov.uk)  
Phone 01292 612845**

**Date: 23 June 2022**

# Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings

June 2022





# **Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings**

## **Contents**

- 1. Introduction**
  - 2. Statutory Framework**
  - 3. Acquisition of Land and Buildings**
    - 3.1 Options for Acquisition of Land and Buildings
    - 3.2 Compulsory Purchase
    - 3.3 Acquisition of Land or Buildings for Service Delivery
    - 3.4 Acquisition of Land or Buildings for Investment Purposes
  - 4. Disposal of Land and Buildings**
    - 4.1 Options for Identification of Surplus Land and Buildings
    - 4.2 Criteria for Land and Buildings Disposals
    - 4.3 Methods of Disposal
    - 4.4 Open Market Disposal
    - 4.5 Negotiation with a Third Party
    - 4.6 Public Auction
  - 5. Community Asset Transfer**
  - 6. Common Good**
- Appendix 1: Checklist for Disposals**

## 1. Introduction

- 1.1 The purpose of this policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings is to inform Elected Members, services and also other interested parties of the principles and rules by which the Council will acquire and dispose of land and buildings.
- 1.2 The extent of Council land and buildings assets is significant and whilst this can be seen as a tremendous resource it can, if underperforming, become a major burden. It is therefore vital that the Council delivers proactive management of its land and buildings assets through the introduction of a policy for the acquisition and disposal of land and buildings and assessment of appropriateness for other uses, including for community use, or disposal.
- 1.3 As the strategic arrangements outlined within the Council's Asset Management Plan are embedded within the Council, it is likely that land and building assets will be identified as being surplus to requirements. The Council must make the most of the potential opportunities to rationalise the Council's land and buildings portfolio.
- 1.4 This policy aims to formalise the basis for the identification of any future need for land and buildings and the means of its disposal and contribute to the efficiency saving in future years.

## 2. Statutory Framework

- 2.1 The disposal of the Council's land and buildings is subject to the **statutory duty to secure best value in terms of section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, the provisions of section 74 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 as amended and the Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010.**
- 2.2 Section 74 (2) of the 1973 Act places a duty on the Council to achieve the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained in the disposal of land or buildings, except where disposal at less than the best consideration is in accordance with the above Act and/ or Regulations.
- 2.3 In addition to the requirements explained in paragraph 2.2 above, the disposal of land or buildings from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) may require the consent of Scottish Ministers under section 12(7) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987. **Similarly, consent is required under section 203(2) of the 1987 Act to transfer land or buildings between the HRA and the General Fund.** This is also the case where land held on the HRA consists of common or open space or is held for use as allotments, under section 12(5) of the 1987 Act. The Scottish Government has introduced guidance on how Councils seek consent to dispose of assets from their HRA or to transfer assets between the General Fund and HRA. In order to improve efficiency and introduce uniformity across General Fund and HRA disposals, a general consent process in line with the existing 'Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010' has been developed. **Under General Consent, Councils are able to 'self-certify' consent where two key considerations have been met: the disposal price is in line with a best consideration valuation performed by a surveyor accredited to the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and an appropriate level of tenant and public consultation has taken place.**



- 2.4** Removal of HRA assets that are no longer connected to the housing stock or are not providing a financial return can take two forms - sale (or lease) to a third party or transfer to the General Fund. There is no obligation for the General Fund to receive HRA assets no longer required by the HRA. A transfer will only occur where the Council determines there is a benefit to the General Fund by retaining the asset. ~~Any proposed internal transfer to or from the Housing Revenue Account shall require the consent of the Scottish Ministers under Section 203(2) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987. The 'Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010', apply to disposal of land from HRAs. They allow Councils to dispose of land valued under £10,000 at less than market value, without having to follow the procedure set out in the regulations. Disposals which fall below a value of £10,000 no longer need to be considered by Scottish Ministers for consent. This will apply to the majority of garden ground type disposals and the same for non-HRA property disposals under £10,000 in value. In recognition of the new guidance and other requirements for land transfers and acquisitions for Housing, a separate complementary policy on HRA land acquisition and disposal is being developed.~~
- 2.5** If transferring to the General Fund at market price, the Council has the option to keep the asset and use it productively as a General Fund asset or dispose of it at a later date. This approach ensures the HRA receives the full financial compensation for any disposal of HRA assets. Assets may be transferred for less than the market value but this requires the consent of Scottish Ministers
- 2.56** If it is proposed to ~~appropriate~~**acquire** or dispose of any land or buildings which forms part of the Common Good and with respect to which a question arises as to the right of the Council to alienate, authorisation must be obtained from the Court in accordance with section 75(2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. This restriction applies in addition to the requirements explained at paragraph 2.2 above. **In addition, in terms of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 section 104, before taking any decision to dispose of, or change the use of, any land or buildings forming part of the Common Good, the Council is required to carry out a public consultation. These**is processes must also be adhered to with regard to Community Asset Transfers of Common Good assets. **Furthermore, under section 15(4) of the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994, regard must be had by the Council to the interests of the residents in the area of the former burgh to which the particular common good fund relates.**
- 2.7** Before disposing of any land consisting or forming part of a common or open space (except land used for allotments), the Council will publish notice of the proposed disposal and consider any objections, in terms of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1959 section 27(2A). There are also similar requirements in respect of the appropriation of common or open space of land (not being land held for use as allotments) under section 24(2A) of the 1959 Act.
- 2.8** The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 Part 5 provides rights for qualifying community bodies to make requests to the Council for the transfer of the ownership of land or for land to be leased to the community body. There is a presumption in favour of granting such requests.

### 3. Acquisition of Land and Buildings

#### 3.1 Options for Acquisition of Land and Buildings

3.1.1 The Council can choose to acquire land and buildings in either of the following forms:

- (i) ownership; or
- (ii) leasehold.

3.1.2 The reasons for the Council to acquire land or buildings would be:

- (i) opportunities for improved service delivery;
- (ii) investment purposes; and
- (iii) acquisition in line with Council's strategic objectives.

3.1.3 Prior to the purchase or lease of any asset a full options appraisal should be carried out which should involve appraisal of all the options for delivery of the final objective. Consideration should be given to all other Council-owned land and buildings and ~~their ability~~ **whether these could be used** to fulfil the requirement prior to any acquisition.

3.1.4 Authority for the decision to pursue a purchase of any land or buildings will be by the ~~Leadership Panel~~**Cabinet**/ Council except insofar as included within the provisions of paragraph 3.1.5 below.

3.1.5 It is recognised that from time to time, it will be necessary to supplement new build Council housing with the acquisition of second hand residential properties on the open market. Scottish Government subsidy can be used to assist Councils to purchase properties on the open market which can then be used as affordable housing for rent. This, together with options for bringing empty private properties back into use as affordable housing through the Empty Homes Strategy and loan scheme, will increase the number of available Council houses for rent. In order to streamline this process (often referred to as Council House buy-backs as often the properties have previously been owned by the Council and sold under 'Right to Buy') the Director – Place ~~will have~~**has** delegated authority to purchase individual residential properties to be used as Council houses for rent on behalf of Housing Services up to the value of ~~£100,000~~**£150,000** **and the acquisition of land either in Council ownership or on the open market of up to £250,000 with agreement from the Portfolio Holder or in their absence, the Leader or Depute Leader of the Council** each subject to available funds.

#### 3.2 Compulsory Purchase

3.2.1 The Council may consider, where appropriate the acquisition of land or buildings through its compulsory purchase powers. In this regard Legal Services would advise ~~from the outset~~ on the compulsory purchase powers available to the Council.

- 3.2.2 The Head of **Legal, HR and Regulatory Services** ~~will~~**should** be consulted at the earliest opportunity if consideration is being given to acquisition in this way.
- 3.2.3 Powers of compulsory purchase are conferred on public authorities by legislation. They enable the authorities authorised to compulsorily purchase land or buildings **for a wide range of purposes, where there is a strong enough case for this required to carry out a function which Parliament has decided is** in the public interest. **The Council requires to be satisfied that the purposes for which a compulsory purchase order is made justify the interference with the rights of the people affected. The justification for making a compulsory purchase order will be subject to the requirements of the law and will be a matter of facts and circumstances in each case.** These powers will be used where the owner or occupier of the land is unwilling to sell by agreement or where agreement cannot be achieved **in a project timeframe or at reasonable cost, or where the owner cannot be traced.**
- 3.2.4 **The Council will consult and engage with people affected by compulsory purchase at every stage of the process.** Where compulsory purchase powers are used, the land owner or occupier is entitled to compensation.
- 3.2.5 Any ~~decision resolution~~ to pursue acquisition by compulsory purchase of any land or buildings will be **passed taken** by a **meeting of the Leadership Panel/** Council as appropriate. **The report to the Council will explain the public benefits to be delivered by the scheme and explain why these justify the interference with the rights of the people affected. The extent of the land to be acquired will be shown on a plan or map attached to the report.**
- 3.2.6 Notification and advertising procedures which apply to the making of a compulsory purchase order will be adhered to. Once made, the order will be confirmed with the Scottish Ministers (where there are objections to the order, the Scottish Ministers may hold a public local inquiry or a hearing). Once the order has been confirmed by the Scottish Ministers any further notification or advertising procedures will be adhered to. Thereafter, provided there is no challenge to the validity of the order, the Council can take possession and legal title to the land, and pay any compensation due.

### 3.3 ***Acquisition of Land or Buildings for Service Delivery***

- 3.3.1 Land or buildings may be acquired for the purpose of service delivery, subject to the following conditions:
- (i) an options appraisal has been carried out and reported to the Director - Place, the result of which identifies the requirement for the land or buildings for service delivery;
  - (ii) the ongoing revenue and capital costs are contained within an approved budget which has been confirmed as appropriate by the Head of Finance and ICT and/ or an appropriate budget is approved by the Council; and

- (iii) the ~~Cabinet Leadership Panel~~/ Council has approved the acquisition of the land or buildings for the purpose of service delivery.

**3.3.2 Where land is identified for HRA housing purposes which is currently held under the General Services account then any transfer will follow this policy.**

### **3.4 Acquisition of Land or Buildings for Investment Purposes**

3.4.1 Land or buildings may be acquired for the purpose of investment, subject to the following conditions:

- (i) an options appraisal has been carried out and reported to the Director - Place, the result of which identifies the suitability of the land or buildings for investment purposes;
- (ii) the ongoing revenue and capital costs are contained within an approved budget which has been confirmed as appropriate by the Head of Finance and ICT, and/ or an appropriate budget is approved by the Council; and
- (iii) the ~~Cabinet Leadership Panel~~/ Council has approved the acquisition of the land or buildings for investment purposes.

## **4. Disposal of Land and Buildings**

### **4.1 Options for Identification of Surplus Land and Buildings**

4.1.1 The identification of surplus assets is an ongoing process which will require the co-operation of all Council services. There are clear benefits to the Council in reducing its portfolio of properties and therefore a rigorous examination of assets is required.

4.1.2 The Asset Management Plan (land and buildings) highlighted that a key priority for the Council is to continually review the land and buildings it currently manages and assess whether these assets are surplus to Council requirements.

4.1.3 Vacant and surplus properties cost the Council money. It is therefore important that once a property is declared surplus its future use is determined in a timely manner to minimise ongoing costs to the Council. Until the property has been disposed of by the Council or formal transfer of a property to another Council service has been completed the incumbent holding service will continue to be responsible for the property and all associated costs.

4.1.4 Property may be identified as being potentially surplus to the Council's requirements as a result of any one or more of the following circumstances:

- (i) the holding service determining it no longer has a requirement for its property due to changes in its operational requirements;

- (ii) as part of a wider strategic review of the Council's land and buildings an alternative and more cost effective service delivery site has been identified;
- (iii) the property has no potential for future strategic or regeneration/ redevelopment purposes (including affordable housing);
- (iv) the income generated from the land or buildings is nil or less than £1,000 per annum and there is a potential regeneration or redevelopment opportunity for the asset; and/ or
- (v) the site has been identified by the Council's Housing Services or local or national Housing associations as being suitable for affordable housing.

4.1.5 All land and property that is potentially surplus to requirements will **first** be offered to **Housing Services** for **affordable housing as an internal transfer or for a disposal to a Housing Association for the purposes of affordable housing (subject to 2.4) subject to Leadership Panel approval. Thereafter, following consideration by the Director – Place, a decision would be made by the Leadership Panel or Council on one of the following outcomes** use as follows:

~~(i) market disposal to achieve a capital receipt;~~

~~(ii) internal transfer of the land and buildings for use by another Directorate; and~~

~~(iii) disposal to a public sector organisation.~~

(i) Housing Services;

(ii) Council Directorate; and

(iii) Public Sector Organisations.

4.1.6 Following consideration with the appropriate party above and with the Director – Place, a report will be presented to Cabinet/ Council for the transfer of the property and this will include a recommendation on the appropriate value for that transfer and will ,where appropriate, take into account the provisions of the Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 and the procedure set out in **Appendix 2**. Council/ Cabinet will determine the value to be applied to the transfer of the land and property.

4.1.7 The internal transfer of all land or property from General Services or Common Good for affordable housing to **Housing Services and disposals to Housing Associations will take into account any abnormal costs, will be at an appropriate value approved by Leadership Panel. Appropriate value will be market value subject to any discount to take account of affordable housing use**, nature of the site and any other factor considered to be appropriate. **Abnormal or 'extraordinary' development costs are site-specific costs that relate to additional works that would otherwise not be required on a greenfield**

site with reasonable ground bearing strata including those associated with the treatment of contamination, demolitions, ground remediation, flood risk protection and utilities upgrades to ensure that the site and the building under development are legally compliant and meet all planning obligations. These costs will be reported to the Council's Cabinet for its consideration and approval.

- 4.1.8 Whilst not specifically required by the legislation, it is implied that a HRA in Scotland is self-financing, that is the budgeted income is sufficient to cover budgeted expenditure. The legislation permits a Council to transfer, any actual HRA surpluses to the General Fund. However, they are not permitted to budget for a transfer of funds from the General Fund to the HRA. The HRA is also not permitted to show a deficit at the end of the financial year. If this occurs, authorities are required to transfer funds from the General Fund to cover this deficit.
- 4.1.9 Since April 2010, no limits have been set on contributions from the General Fund to the HRA though any such contribution would require the consent of Scottish Ministers under paragraph 2(5) of schedule 15 to the 1987 Act. In theory therefore a subsidy is allowed with appropriate permissions. Subsidies from the General Services Fund should not be planned or budgeted; however, if they do occur and are approved by Cabinet/ Council, then permission must be sought from the Scottish Ministers.
- 4.1.10 The financial implications of any subsidy required from the General Services Fund to the HRA requires to be approved by the Cabinet/ Council. The decision sought from the Cabinet should clearly set out why the subsidy is required in order that they are fully aware of the financial implications of the decision they require to make.
- 4.1.11 As part of the ongoing remit of the Asset Management Plan, the Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer will discuss with services to determine if there is a continuing need for the Council to retain the asset. If a Council service expresses an interest in retaining the asset, a clear business case including recognition of the ongoing financial responsibilities will require to be developed to justify retention.
- 4.1.12 This exercise may therefore culminate in an alternative Council use being identified, disposal to a community organisation, the leasing of the property where the Council wishes to retain a long term interest, demolition of the property or the property's outright sale on the open market.
- 4.1.13 Formal approval to declare the asset surplus to requirements will be given by the ~~Leadership Panel~~Cabinet or Council. Requests for approval to declare land and buildings surplus to requirements will usually be sought in batches to limit the number of individual reports required.

## 4.2 ***Criteria for Land and Buildings Disposals***

- 4.2.1 For the disposal of land and buildings which have been declared surplus to requirements up to the value of £100,000 and are to be marketed for disposal, the Director - Place will decide if the disposal should be on the open market or by public auction. ~~This will include land and buildings held within the Housing Revenue Account (subject to paragraph 2.4).~~

4.2.2 Formal approval from the ~~Leadership Panel~~**Cabinet** or Council will be sought to approve disposals and acquisitions of land and buildings which exceed £100,000, and disposals of land to community organisations, public sector organisations and Housing Associations.

#### 4.3 ***Methods of Disposal***

4.3.1 Where the Council approves the property's disposal for a capital receipt, the disposal will be carried out in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders Relating to Contracts.

4.3.2 The Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer, in conjunction with the Service Lead – Planning and Building Standards, will determine if there is a requirement for a planning brief or statement to be provided prior to marketing the property.

4.3.3 Methods of disposal are:

- (i) open market disposal;
- (ii) negotiation with a third party; and
- (iii) public auction.

#### 4.4 ***Open Market Disposal***

4.4.1 The Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer shall assess, on a case by case basis, the degree of advertising necessary to ensure that a proposed disposal of land and buildings will be subject to open competition, will satisfy the requirements of transparency and will achieve best value for the Council.

4.4.2 When appropriate, independent agents will be appointed to manage the advertisement and the disposal of the land or buildings, to report to the Council the value of the bids received and to recommend which they consider to be the best consideration, taking into account both financial and non-financial benefits.

#### 4.5 ***Negotiation with a Third Party***

4.5.1 In certain circumstances, the Council will decide to dispose of an asset by negotiation with a third party without prior advertisement.

4.5.2 In order to justify a private disposal, the proposal must meet one, or more of the following criteria:

- (i) the proposed disposal is to a purchaser who owns or controls an adjoining property or piece of land;
- (ii) the proposed disposal is to a third party who, whilst not an adjoining landowner, would bring additional social, environmental, health or economic benefit: an example would be a sale to an existing major employer who could otherwise leave the area or a sale to a new major employer who would move into the area or

organisations who wish to invest in upgrading existing facilities or building new facilities; and/ or

- (iii) to enable the purchase of another site, which the Council considers necessary to meet its priorities and objectives.

#### 4.6 **Public Auction**

4.6.1 The Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer shall assess, on a case by case basis, whether it is appropriate to market a property by public auction. In such cases, the Director – Place, in consultation with the Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer, will set a reserve price at a level that ensures the Council's interests are protected.

4.6.2 Formal approval from the ~~Leadership Panel Cabinet~~ or Council will be sought to approve disposals and acquisitions of land and buildings by public auction where the reserve price exceeds £100,000 prior to the auction date.

### 5. **Community Asset Transfer**

5.1 **Part 5 of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act was passed on 7 June 2015 and the part relating to the community asset transfer requests came into force on 23 January 2017.** The disposal of assets from local authorities and other public sector organisations is legally recognised as an important means of supporting communities to own assets. The Scottish Government hopes the Act will increase the flow of assets into community ownership and aims to facilitate this by encouraging and supporting local authorities and community organisations both to gain a wider appreciation of the benefits and risks associated with asset transfers.

5.2 Community ownership of assets can make an important contribution to the range of innovative, 'bottom up' solutions which community organisations can develop to address local needs. These solutions can meet the needs of local people and also contribute to the delivery of both the Council's Single Outcome Agreement and national government outcomes. The Council does, however, recognise that the community ownership of land and buildings assets is a major commitment for eligible bodies.

5.3 The process for any Community Asset Transfer is set out in the Council's Community Asset Transfer **Process Policy**. This process is in accordance with Part 5 of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015. It should be noted that this process is different from the acquisitions and disposal process as it provides communities with the right to make requests for ownership, lease management or use of publicly owned buildings and land, including common good properties, which are still in operational use by the Council. **Applications under Part 5 of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 are determined under the Community Asset Transfer Process and in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the associated Scottish Government Guidance.**

5.4 It is recognised that in small rural communities the requirements to form **Social Scottish Charitable Incorporated Organisation (SCIO) or a Community Benefit Company (Becom)** in accordance with Part 5 of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 which requires a **minimum** 20 person board can be a potential



obstacle with regard to **the ownership of** land and property assets being transferred to these communities.

5.5 In these circumstances, **if an application for the transfer of ownership would not meet the requirements of Part 5 of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015, it would be open to the Council to consider** ~~has the right to~~ transfer of an asset to a community group for less than market value under the Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 if the disposal **is considered reasonable**, demonstrates the **following purposes of promotion** or improvement of:

5.5.1 Economic development or regeneration;

5.5.2 Health;

5.5.3 Social wellbeing; and/ or

5.5.4 Environmental wellbeing.

## 6. **Common Good**

6.1 Where a disposal involves Common Good property, the same considerations of the acquisitions and disposals policy generally apply. Any potential sale of Common Good property would be subject to the statutory restrictions explained in paragraphs **2.1, 2.2 and 2.42.6** above.

6.2 It is necessary to consider advice from Legal Services as to whether an application to the Court is required to dispose of the property. The Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer will determine, following consultation with Legal Services, if the matter is to be referred to the Court for authority to dispose of the asset.

6.3 Formal approval will be sought from the ~~Leadership Panel Cabinet~~ or Council to approve the acquisition and disposal of all Common Good assets regardless of its value.

6.4 Where there is a disposal of the Common Good asset the proceeds will be treated as receipts to the relevant Common Good account.

## Checklist for Disposals

- **Surplus to requirements**
  - has the land/ property been declared surplus to requirements in line with the relevant policy? Y/N
- **Title Issues:**
  - Has a recent or refreshed title report been completed by Legal Services? Y/N
  - Have any issues raised by Legal Services in the title report been addressed by Estates, for example, if further deeds are needed or a legal report obtained? Y/N/NA
  - Has the extent of the disposal been plotted with reference to the title? Y/N
  - Are Legal Services satisfied that the disposal does not trigger any rights under the School Sites Act 1841? Y/N
- **Common Good**
  - Is the land/ property common good? Y/N
  - If yes, have Legal Services been consulted about the disposal? Y/N
  - Is the land/ property alienable? Y/N
  - Is a sheriff court petition required? Y/N
  - Has a common good consultation been carried out? Y/N
- **Owning account**
  - Is the land/ property in the HRA? Y/N
  - If yes, has the HRA disposal procedure for general consent been followed? Y/N
  - [HRA+-+Consent+Reforms+-+General+Consent+Guidance+-+February+2016.pdf \(www.gov.scot\)](#)
  - If advice is required from Finance or Legal Services, has this been obtained and followed? Y/N/NA
- **Open Space**
  - Is the land open space? Y/N
  - If yes, have the open space statutory requirements (notice of disposal and consideration of any objections) been fulfilled? Y/N
  - [Town and Country Planning \(Scotland\) Act 1959 \(legislation.gov.uk\) s.24 and s.27](#)
  - If advice is required from Legal Services, has this been obtained and followed? Y/N/NA

- **Valuation**

- **Have Estates undertaken a valuation of the land/ property in line with the relevant policy? Y/N**

- **If the land/ property is being sold for less than market value, has the legislation and statutory guidance for disposals for less than market been adhered to? Y/N**

**The Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 (legislation.gov.uk)**

**Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations: General Guidance - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)**

- **If advice is required from Finance or Legal Services, has this been obtained and followed? Y/N/NA**

- **Conditions**

- **Are there any special conditions recommended for the disposal, such as clawback, economic development burdens? Y/N**

- **If yes, have the conditions been discussed with Legal Services? Y/N**

## **Provisions of the Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 and Procedure**

- 1. Unless the value of the land (best consideration for the disposal) is less than £10,000 (the 'threshold amount'), or the difference between the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained and proposed consideration (the 'marginal amount') is 25% or less of the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained, then the local authority must follow the 'procedure' set out in the Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 which requires that the local authority must:**
  - a) appraise and compare the costs and other dis-benefits and benefits of the proposal; and**
  - b) determine that the 'circumstances' set out in Regulation 4 are met.**
- 2. The 'circumstances' in which a local authority may dispose of land for a consideration less than the best that can be reasonably be obtained are that:**
  - a) the local authority is satisfied that the disposal for that consideration is reasonable; and**
  - b) the disposal is likely to contribute to any of the 'purposes' set out within the Regulations (in respect of the whole or any part of the area of the local authority or any persons resident or present in its area).**
- 3. These 'purposes', which the local authority must consider, include the promotion or improvement of following types of benefit:**
  - a) economic development;**
  - b) regeneration;**
  - c) public health;**
  - d) social wellbeing; and**
  - e) environmental wellbeing.**
- 4. Officers in the Council Directorate seeking the transfer at less than market value shall, with the assistance of the Service Lead - Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer, arrange for a business justification/ evaluation to be prepared that demonstrates how the proposal meets the requirements of the Disposal of Land by Local Authorities (Scotland) Regulations 2010 and the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 (if applicable) having regard to the following:**
  - a) the business justification/ evaluation will need to take account of whether/ not the proposed 'benefits' to be delivered by the proposal justify the proposed level of discount sought;**
  - b) the business justification/ evaluation will need to include an assessment of the proposed disposal taking into account all relevant factors, all available options and all relevant information, and**

**demonstrates that an evaluation, supported by evidence, makes clear how the decision has been reached; and**

- c) the benefits of such a proposal should be proportionate to the value of the asset and the level of discount being proposed, with an appropriate level of information to support the business justification/evaluation.**

## South Ayrshire Council Equality Impact Assessment Scoping Template

Equality Impact Assessment is a legal requirement under the Public Sector Duty to promote equality of the Equality Act 2010. Separate guidance has been developed on Equality Impact Assessment's which will guide you through the process and is available to view here: <https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/equalities/impact-assessment.aspx>

Further guidance is available here: <https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/assessing-impact-and-public-sector-equality-duty-guide-public-authorities/>

The Fairer Scotland Duty ('the Duty'), Part 1 of the Equality Act 2010, came into force in Scotland from 1 April 2018. It places a legal responsibility on Councils to actively consider ('pay due regard to') how we can reduce inequalities of outcome caused by socio-economic disadvantage, when making strategic decisions. See information here: [Interim Guidance for Public Bodies](#) in respect of the Duty, was published by the Scottish Government in March 2018.

### 1. Policy details

Policy Title	Updated Policy for the Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings policy
Lead Officer (Name/Position/Email)	Tom Burns, Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer – tom.burns@south-ayrshire.gov.uk

**2. Which communities, groups of people, employees or thematic groups do you think will be, or potentially could be, impacted upon by the implementation of this policy? Please indicate whether these would be positive or negative impacts**

Community or Groups of People	Negative Impacts	Positive impacts
Age – men and women, girls & boys	-	-
Disability	-	-
Gender Reassignment (Trans/Transgender Identity)	-	-
Marriage or Civil Partnership	-	-
Pregnancy and Maternity	-	-
Race – people from different racial groups, (BME) ethnic minorities and Gypsy/Travellers	-	-
Religion or Belief (including lack of belief)	-	-
Sex – gender identity (issues specific to women & men or girls & boys)	-	-
Sexual Orientation – person's sexual orientation i.e. LGBT+, lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, heterosexual/straight	-	-
Thematic Groups: Health, Human Rights & Children's Rights	-	-

**3. What likely impact will this policy have on people experiencing different kinds of social disadvantage? (Fairer Scotland Duty). Consideration must be given particularly to children and families.**

Socio-Economic Disadvantage	Negative Impacts	Positive impacts
Low Income/Income Poverty – cannot afford to maintain regular payments such as bills, food, clothing	-	-
Low and/or no wealth – enough money to meet Basic living costs and pay bills but have no savings to deal with any unexpected spends and no provision for the future	-	-
Material Deprivation – being unable to access basic goods and services i.e. financial products like life insurance, repair/replace broken electrical goods, warm home, leisure/hobbies	-	-
Area Deprivation – where you live (rural areas), where you work (accessibility of transport)	-	-
Socio-economic Background – social class i.e. parent’s education, employment and income	-	-

**4. Do you have evidence or reason to believe that the policy will support the Council to:**

General Duty and other Equality Themes Consider the ‘Three Key Needs’ of the Equality Duty	Level of Negative and/or Positive Impact (High, Medium or Low)
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation	Low impact
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not	Low impact
Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. (Does it tackle prejudice and promote a better understanding of equality issues?)	Low impact
Increase participation of particular communities or groups in public life	Low impact
Improve the health and wellbeing of particular communities or groups	Low impact
Promote the human rights of particular communities or groups	Low impact
Tackle deprivation faced by particular communities or groups	Low impact

**5. Summary Assessment**

<p><b>Is a full Equality Impact Assessment required?</b> (A full Equality Impact Assessment must be carried out if impacts identified as <b>Medium and/or High</b>)</p>	<p>— <b>YES</b></p> <p><b>NO</b></p>
<p><b>Rationale for decision:</b></p> <p><b>This report advises the Panel of 8 March 2022. Their decision on this has no specific equality implications</b></p>	
<p><b>Signed :</b> Tom Burns, Service Lead – Asset Management and Community Asset Transfer</p> <p><b>Date:</b> 25 May 2022</p>	